NONLINEAR ELASTICITY AND ITS ROLE IN CONTINUUM THEORIES

Alan Wineman

Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan USA

Keywords: Nonlinear elasticity, nonlinear viscoelastic solids, mixtures, interacting continua, material symmetry, constitutive equations

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Nonlinear Elasticity
- 2.1. Kinematics
- 2.2. Field Equations
- 2.2.1. Conservation of Mass
- 2.2.2. Conservation of Linear and Angular Momentum
- 2.2.3. Conservation of Energy
- 2.2.4. Entropy Inequality
- 2.3. Constitutive Equations for Nonlinear Elastic Response
- 2.3.1. Influence of superposed rigid body motions
- 2.3.2. Material Symmetry
- 2.3.3. Thermodynamical Considerations
- 2.3.4. Material Symmetry Restrictions-General Results
- 2.3.5. Material Symmetry Restrictions Specific Symmetries
- 2.3.6. Material Symmetry Restrictions Forms For Constitutive Equations
- 2.4. Constraints
- 2.5. Some Forms for Strain Energy \tilde{W}
- 2.5.1. Gaussian Statistical Approach
- 2.5.2. Power Series Form, Phenomenological Approach
- 2.5.3. Rivlin-Saunders Model
- 2.5.4. Generalized Neo-Hookean Models
- 2.5.5. Ogden model (1984)
- 2.6. Heat Flux Vector Constitutive Equation
- 2.7. Some Basic Deformations
- 2.7.1. Homogeneous Deformations
- 2.7.2 Non-homogeneous Deformations
- 2.8 Concluding Comments for this Section
- 3. Nonlinear Viscoelastic Solids
- 3.1 Kinematics
- 3.2 Field Equations
- 3.3 Constitutive Equations for Nonlinear Viscoelastic Solids
- 3.3.1 Influence of Superposed Rigid Body Motions
- 3.3.2 Material Symmetry
- **3.4 Constraints**
- 3.5 Isotropic Materials
- 3.6 Some Proposed Constitutive Equations for Nonlinear Viscoelastic Solids

3.6.1 Finite Linear Viscoelasticity
3.6.2. Pipkin-Rogers Constitutive Theory
3.7 Some Basic Deformations
3.7.1 Homogeneous Motions
3.7.2 Non-homogeneous Motions
3.8. Concluding Comments for This Section
4. Mixtures, Interacting Continua
5. Concluding Comments
Glossary
Bibliography
Biographical Sketch

Summary

Nonlinear elasticity involves a number of concepts and methods that also occur in other theories within continuum mechanics. An overview of nonlinear elasticity is first presented that discusses these concepts and methods. Two specific additional theories are then discussed, nonlinear viscoelasticity and mixture theory. It is shown how these theories utilize generalizations of the concepts and methods introduced in the context of nonlinear elasticity. The intention is to show that if one is educated in nonlinear elasticity, one is also prepared to work in nonlinear viscoelasticity and mixture theory.

1. Introduction

In the period from the 1950's through the 1970's, nonlinear elasticity was the subject of a great deal of interest and experienced a rapid growth. Many workers explored the concepts involved in its formulation and the physical and mathematical consequences of its theoretical structure. With the insights and experience gained from studying nonlinear elasticity, prominent researchers such as R. S. Rivlin, A. E. Green, J. E. Adkins and A. J. M. Spencer worked on the formulation of several additional theories in continuum mechanics (An interesting overview of the activity in this period can be gained by reading the titles of the papers listed in the collected works of Rivlin (1996).). Among these are the formulation of constitutive equations for nonlinear phenomena, nonlinear viscoelasticity, and the theory of interacting continua. Many topics within nonlinear elasticity provided the foundation for their work. In particular, the kinematics of large deformations, the use of polar decomposition, material symmetry considerations and the theory of invariants, polynomial matrix equations and the Cayley-Hamilton theorem were developed further in order to be of use in these later theories. In addition, it was found that many fascinating results in nonlinear elastic materials had their counterparts in these theories.

Thus, with an understanding of nonlinear elasticity, one is well positioned to understand the formulation of additional theories and to then explore them. It is the intent of this article to show the reader that an education in nonlinear elasticity means that one is also educated, though perhaps unaware of it, in the foundations of several additional subjects. In this article, we first present a summary of nonlinear elasticity. We then present two additional subjects in continuum mechanics, nonlinear viscoelasticity and mixture theory, emphasizing the role played by nonlinear elasticity in their formulation and application.

2. Nonlinear Elasticity

This section contains an outline of the topics of nonlinear elasticity that are relevant to the purposes of this article. For more detailed presentations of the subject, see the standard reference by Ogden (1984) and the review article by Beatty (1987).

2.1. Kinematics

A body is a set of material points called particles. A typical particle P is identified or labeled by its position vector \mathbf{X} at some reference time t_o . The domain of \mathbf{X} at time t_0 is called a reference configuration of the body. Let \mathbf{x} denote the position of particle P at time t. The motion of particle P is described by the vector function

(1)

$$\mathbf{x} = \boldsymbol{\chi} \big(\mathbf{X}, t \big).$$

For a fixed \mathbf{X} , (1) gives the path of particle P as time t increases. At a fixed time t, (1) gives the positions \mathbf{x} of all particles of the body. The domain of \mathbf{x} at time t is called the current configuration of the body. This motion is assumed to be one-to-one so that (1) can be inverted to express the label of a particle in terms of its current position

$$\mathbf{X} = \boldsymbol{\chi}^{-1} \left(\mathbf{x}, t \right) \tag{2}$$

The velocity and acceleration of particle P are given by

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{X},t) = \frac{\partial \chi(\mathbf{X},t)}{\partial t}$$
(3)

$$\ddot{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{X},t) = \frac{\partial^2 \chi(\mathbf{X},t)}{\partial t^2}$$
(4)

The superposed dot denotes the derivative with respect to time holding the particle label fixed. When the independent spatial variable is \mathbf{X} , (3) and (4) give the material (or Lagrangian) description of the velocity and acceleration. Relation (2) can be used to change the independent spatial variable in (3) and (4) from \mathbf{X} to \mathbf{x} giving

$$\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x},t) = \dot{\mathbf{x}}(\boldsymbol{\chi}^{-1}(\mathbf{x},t),t)$$
(5)

$$\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{x},t) = \ddot{\mathbf{x}}(\boldsymbol{\chi}^{-1}(\mathbf{x},t),t)$$
(6)

Relations (5) and (6) give the spatial (or Eulerian) description of the velocity and acceleration.

In the remainder of this sub-section, explicit mention of the arguments is omitted for

ease of presentation. In order that the motion be one-to-one, it is assumed that

$$J = \det \mathbf{F} > 0, \tag{7}$$

where

$$\mathbf{F} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}}{\partial \mathbf{X}} \tag{8}$$

is called the deformation gradient. This tensor contains information that compares the rotation and distortion in the neighborhood of a material particle at time t to its neighborhood in the reference configuration. The quantity J defined in (7) represents the ratio of the current volume of a neighborhood of a particle to its volume in the reference configuration. Application of the Polar Decomposition Theorem of linear algebra leads to

(9)

(10)

(11)

$$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{R}\mathbf{U} = \mathbf{V}\mathbf{R},$$

in which the factors U, V, and R satisfy

$$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{R}^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{R}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{I}$$

$$\mathbf{U} = \mathbf{U}^{\mathrm{T}}$$
. $\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{V}^{\mathrm{T}}$.

The orthogonal tensor **R** represents the rigid body rotation of the neighborhood of the particle while **U** and **V**, called the right and left stretch tensors, describe the local deformation of the neighborhood. It is tedious to compute tensors **R** and **U** from the deformation gradient **F**. For this reason, one defines the more easily computed tensor,

$$\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{F} = \mathbf{U}^{2} \,. \tag{12}$$

The tensor C, called the right Cauchy-Green strain tensor, has the same principle directions as U and its principal values are the squares of those of U. Hence, C is regarded as containing the same information as U about the local deformation of the neighborhood. The deformation gradient F, its polar decomposition and the tensor C play a fundamental role in the development of more advanced theories in continuum mechanics.

2.2. Field Equations

The field equations are stated in local form. See Ogden (1984) for a more complete development.

2.2.1. Conservation of Mass

Let ρ_0 and ρ denote the mass per unit volume at a particle in the reference and current configurations, respectively. The statement of conservation of mass is that at each

particle

$$\rho J = \rho_0 \tag{13}$$

2.2.2. Conservation of Linear and Angular Momentum

The body force per unit mass on a material particle in the current configuration is denoted by **b**, the unit outer normal to an area element on the surface of the current configuration is denoted by **n**, the force per unit area on this surface area element is denoted by **T** and the Cauchy or true stress tensor is denoted by σ . Application of the Principles of the Conservation of Linear Momentum in the current configuration leads to

$$\mathbf{T} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{n}$$

on the surface and to

div $\boldsymbol{\sigma} + \rho \mathbf{b} = \rho \mathbf{a}$

at each point within the current configuration. The Principle of the Conservation of Angular Momentum leads to the statement that the Cauchy stress tensor is symmetric,

 $\sigma = \sigma^{T}$

2.2.3. Conservation of Energy

The internal energy per unit mass at a material particle is denoted by 'e', the rate of heat supply per unit mass to a particle is denoted by 'r', the heat energy per unit time (heat flux) per unit area through a surface area element of the current configuration with unit outer normal **n** is denoted by 'q', and the heat flux vector is denoted by **q**. Application of the Principle of the Conservation of Energy in the current configuration leads to

$$q = \mathbf{q}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{n}$$

on the surface and to

$$\rho \dot{e} = \mathrm{tr} \mathbf{\sigma} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{F}^{-1} + \rho r - \mathrm{div} \mathbf{q} \tag{18}$$

at each point within the current configuration.

2.2.4. Entropy Inequality

The absolute temperature is denoted by θ and the entropy per unit mass of a particle is denoted by η . It is assumed that the entropy satisfies Clausius-Duhem inequality, whose local form is



(16)

(17)

$$\rho \dot{\eta} \ge \frac{\rho r}{\theta} - \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\mathbf{q}}{\theta}\right). \tag{19}$$

It is convenient for the purpose of presenting the constitutive theory to introduce the Helmholtz free energy

$$\psi = e - \eta \theta \quad . \tag{20}$$

An alternate version of (19), obtained with the use of (18) and (20), is

$$-\rho\left(\dot{\psi}+\eta\dot{\theta}\right)+\mathrm{tr}\boldsymbol{\sigma}\mathbf{F}\mathbf{F}^{-1}\geq\frac{1}{\theta}\mathbf{q}^{\mathrm{T}}\cdot\mathrm{grad}\theta.$$
(21)

Field equations (15) and (18) hold in the current configuration, while boundary conditions (14) and (17) hold on the surface of the current configuration. This is inconvenient because the current configuration is usually unknown and is determined as part of the process of solving a particular problem. For this reason, these equations are transformed so that they hold in the known reference configuration. The results of this transformation are presented here. For a detailed derivation, see Ogden (1984).

Let N denote the unit outer normal to a surface area element in the reference configuration whose unit outer normal is \mathbf{n} in the current configuration. The quantity

$$\Pi = J\sigma \mathbf{F}^{-\mathrm{T}} \tag{22}$$

is known as the first Piola-Kirchhoff stress tensor and represents a force per unit area in the reference configuration. Boundary condition (14) becomes

$$\mathbf{T}^{\mathrm{O}} = \mathbf{\Pi}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{N} \,, \tag{23}$$

Where T^{o} is the surface force per unit reference area. The equation of linear momentum (15) becomes

$$\operatorname{Div} \boldsymbol{\Pi} + \rho_0 \mathbf{b} = \rho_0 \ddot{\mathbf{x}} \,. \tag{24}$$

(Div denotes the divergence operator with respect to \mathbf{X} .) Transformation of the equation for the conservation of energy leads to the modified heat flux vector,

$$\mathbf{Q} = J\mathbf{q}\mathbf{F}^{-\mathrm{T}},\tag{25}$$

where vector \mathbf{Q} represents heat flux per unit reference area. Boundary condition (17) becomes

$$Q = \mathbf{Q}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{N} \,, \tag{26}$$

in which Q is the heat flux per unit area of the surface in the reference configuration. The conservation of energy equation (18) becomes

$$\rho_o \dot{\boldsymbol{e}} = \operatorname{tr} \boldsymbol{\Pi} \dot{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{F}^{-1} + \rho_o \boldsymbol{r} - \operatorname{div} \mathbf{Q} \,. \tag{27}$$

2.3. Constitutive Equations for Nonlinear Elastic Response

An elastic solid, in the presence of heat conduction, is defined by the assumption that the stress σ , internal energy 'e', specific entropy η , and by (20), the Helmholtz free energy ψ at time t depend only on the deformation gradient **F**, temperature θ and temperature gradient grad θ at time t. Thermodynamic arguments (see Ogden (1984)) show that the stress, internal energy, specific entropy and Helmholtz free energy do not depend on the temperature gradient grad θ . Hence, the constitutive equation for the stress has the form

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{F}}[\mathbf{F}(t), \boldsymbol{\theta}(t)],$$

in which \mathcal{F} is a tensor valued response function. There are three main sources of restrictions on \mathcal{F} : (a) the influence of superposed rigid body motions, (b) material symmetry, (c) restrictions due to thermodynamics.

(28)

2.3.1. Influence of superposed rigid body motions

Consider the motion $\mathbf{x} = \boldsymbol{\chi}(\mathbf{X}, t)$ in (1). Suppose that the body undergoes a second motion $\mathbf{x} = \boldsymbol{\chi}^*(\mathbf{X}, t)$ obtained from the first by a superposed rigid body motion,

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}^{*}\left(\mathbf{X},t\right) = \mathbf{Q}(t) \Big[\boldsymbol{\chi}\left(\mathbf{X},t\right) - \mathbf{d}(t)\Big].$$
⁽²⁹⁾

Vector $\mathbf{d}(t)$ represents a rigid body translation. $\mathbf{Q}(t)$ represents a rigid body rotation and satisfies

$$\mathbf{Q}(t)\mathbf{Q}(t)^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{Q}(t)^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{Q}(t) = \mathbf{I}.$$
(30)

It is assumed that the superposed rigid body motion only affects the stress by rotating it. This leads to the condition that

$$\mathcal{F}[\mathbf{Q}(t)\mathbf{F}(t),\theta(t)] = \mathbf{Q}(t)\mathcal{F}[\mathbf{F}(t),\theta(t)]\mathbf{Q}(t)^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(31)

for any $\mathbf{Q}(t)$ satisfying (30). This, when combined with (9) leads to the statement that (28) is of the form

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \mathbf{R}(t) \boldsymbol{\mathcal{F}}[\mathbf{U}(t), \boldsymbol{\theta}(t)] \mathbf{R}(t)^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(32)

Because (i) the determination of R and U from F using (9) is tedious, (ii) U and C

contain essentially the same information about the local deformation and (iii) \mathcal{F} is as yet arbitrary, (32) is usually restated without loss in generality as,

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \mathbf{F}(t) \boldsymbol{\mathcal{G}} [\mathbf{C}(t), \boldsymbol{\theta}(t)] \mathbf{F}(t)^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (33)$$

in which G is a new response function. It is straightforward to show that (33) satisfies (31).

2.3.2. Material Symmetry

The concept of material symmetry arises from the fact that a material has some physical microstructure in its reference configuration, such as a crystal structure or randomly oriented macromolecules. Consider a sample of material in its reference configuration and its microstructure. Suppose there is a transformation of this reference configuration to a new configuration such that the material appears to have the same microstructure as before. Let both the original and transformed configurations be subjected to the same homogeneous deformation with deformation gradient \mathbf{F} . The underlying microstructures, which appear to be the same in their respective reference configurations, are distorted in the same way. The stresses are assumed to be the same and these configurations are considered to be mechanically equivalent.

A transformation of the original reference configuration to one that is mechanically equivalent is a linear transformation is denoted by **H**. One restriction on **H** is that it produce no volume change and this leads to the condition that $|\det \mathbf{H}| = 1$. In addition, for most equivalent microstructures of interest, **H** is a rotation or a reflection and satisfies

$$\mathbf{H}\mathbf{H}^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{H}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{I} \ . \tag{34}$$

Symmetries of a material are described by giving the set of transformations \mathbf{H} that lead to equivalent microstructures. These form a mathematical entity called a material symmetry group.

For each transformation \mathbf{H} of a material symmetry group, the above discussion implies that the constitutive equation (28) satisfies

$$\mathcal{F}[\mathbf{F}(t),\theta(t)] = \mathcal{F}[\mathbf{F}(t)\mathbf{H},\theta(t)]$$
(35)

Material symmetry restrictions can be imposed on the response function G by substituting (33) into (35),

$$\mathbf{H}^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{G}}\left[\mathbf{C}(t),\boldsymbol{\theta}(t)\right]\mathbf{H} = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{G}}\left[\mathbf{H}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{C}(t)\mathbf{H},\boldsymbol{\theta}(t)\right]$$
(36)

2.3.3. Thermodynamical Considerations

Thermodynamical arguments utilizing the entropy inequality in the form (21), that are by now standard, lead to the result that the Helmholtz free energy is independent of the temperature gradient,

$$\psi = \psi \left(\mathbf{F}, \theta \right) \tag{37}$$

and to the following relations

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = J^{-1} \frac{\partial (\rho_0 \psi)}{\partial \mathbf{F}} \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{T}} , \qquad (38)$$

$$\eta = -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \theta} , \qquad (39)$$

$$\mathbf{q} \cdot \operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{\theta} \leq 0$$
.

Since all physical variables are evaluated at time t, explicit dependence on time is omitted for notational convenience. These thermodynamical restrictions are now combined with the restrictions associated with the influence of superposed rigid body motion and of material symmetry. Since ψ is a scalar, the restriction imposed by the independence of a superposed rigid body motion requires that $\psi(\mathbf{F}, \theta)$ satisfy

(40)

$$\psi(\mathbf{F},\theta) = \psi(\mathbf{QF},\theta). \tag{41}$$

This is satisfied by writing

$$\rho_0 \psi(\mathbf{F}, \theta) = W(\mathbf{C}, \theta) . \tag{42}$$

When this is substituted into (38), the expression for the stress reduces to

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = J^{-1} \mathbf{F} \left[\frac{\partial W}{\partial \mathbf{C}} + \left(\frac{\partial W}{\partial \mathbf{C}} \right)^{\mathrm{T}} \right] \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(43)

Note that this is of the form (33).

Since $W(\mathbf{C}, \theta)$ is a scalar, the earlier discussion on material symmetry leads to the restriction

$$W(\mathbf{C},\theta) = W(\mathbf{H}^{T}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{H},\theta) .$$
(44)

2.3.4. Material Symmetry Restrictions-General Results

The method of determination of the form of G that satisfies (36) and of W that satisfies (44) has been presented in the classic review article by Spencer (1971). For each type of material symmetry, there is a set of basic scalar functions $I_k(\mathbf{C})$, $k = 1, \dots, N$, called

invariants, that have the property,

$$I_{k}\left(\mathbf{C}\right) = I_{k}\left(\mathbf{H}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{H}\right) \tag{45}$$

for each transformation \mathbf{H} of the material symmetry group. *W* can be expressed as a function of these invariants

$$W(\mathbf{C},\theta) = \hat{W}(I_1(\mathbf{C}),\dots,I_N(\mathbf{C}),\theta).$$
(46)

With W written as (46) and with property (45), it is seen that (44) is satisfied. Then (43) becomes

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = J^{-1} \mathbf{F} \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\partial W}{\partial I_k} \left[\frac{\partial I_k}{\partial \mathbf{C}} + \left(\frac{\partial I_k}{\partial \mathbf{C}} \right)^{\mathrm{T}} \right] \right\} \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(47)

This is of the form

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = J^{-1} \mathbf{F} \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{N} \Phi_k \mathbf{P}_k \right\} \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (48)$$

in which $\Phi_k(I_1,...,I_N)$ are scalars to be determined for a particular material and

$$\mathbf{P}_{k} = \frac{\partial I_{k}}{\partial \mathbf{C}} + \left(\frac{\partial I_{k}}{\partial \mathbf{C}}\right)^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(49)

are matrix polynomials associated with the particular material symmetry under consideration.

It should be noted that (47) arose out of the restrictions due to thermodynamics, the influence of superposed rigid body motion and material symmetry. One of the results presented in Spencer (1971) is that if a function G satisfies condition (36), it can be written in the form

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{G}} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \tilde{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}_{k} \boldsymbol{\mathbf{P}}_{k} \quad , \tag{50}$$

in which $\tilde{\Phi}_k$ are scalar functions of the invariants and \mathbf{P}_k is defined in (49). The consequence of the thermodynamical restriction is that the scalar coefficients $\tilde{\Phi}_k$ can be expressed in terms of a single quantity, the Helmholtz free energy. It has been shown, (see Spencer (1971)), that if a tensor valued function of a set of vector and tensor arguments satisfies a material symmetry condition analogous to (36), it can be expressed in a form similar to (50), i.e. as a sum of terms, each being a product of a scalar and a tensor. The scalar coefficient is a function of basic scalar invariants and the

tensor is a basic tensor function, both being associated with the particular material symmetry and set of independent variables under consideration.

2.3.5. Material Symmetry Restrictions – Specific Symmetries

The symmetries commonly used to describe nonlinear elastic materials are isotropy, transverse isotropy and orthotropy.

ISOTROPY: A material is said to have hemihedral or proper isotropy if the set of material symmetry transformations \mathbf{H} consists of rotations. It is said to have holohedral or full isotropy if the group of material symmetry transformations consists of rotations and a central reflection. In either case, the set of strain invariants is

$$I_1(\mathbf{C}) = \operatorname{tr}\mathbf{C}, I_2(\mathbf{C}) = \frac{1}{2} \left[(\operatorname{tr}\mathbf{C})^2 - \operatorname{tr}(\mathbf{C}^2) \right], I_3(\mathbf{C}) = \det \mathbf{C}, \qquad (51)$$

TRANSVERSE ISOTROPY: Let the axes of a Cartesian coordinate system define directions with respect to the material in the reference configuration. A material is said to have transverse isotropy with respect to the direction indicated by, say, the X_3 axis, if the set of material symmetry transformations consists of rotations about this axis. Different classes of transverse isotropy arise by also including reflections about or perpendicular to this axis. In any case, the set of strain invariants consists of the invariants in (51) and also

$$I_4(\mathbf{C}) = C_{33}, I_5(\mathbf{C}) = C_{13}^{2} + C_{23}^{2}.$$
(52)

ORTHOTROPY: Let the axes of Cartesian coordinate system define directions with respect to the material in the reference configuration. A material is said to have orthotropy if the set of material symmetry transformations consists of 90° rotations about each of the axes. Different classes of orthotropy arise by also including reflections about or perpendicular to these axes. The set of invariants consists of

$$I_{1}(\mathbf{C}) = C_{11}, I_{2}(\mathbf{C}) = C_{22}, I_{3}(\mathbf{C}) = C_{33}, I_{4}(\mathbf{C}) = C_{12}^{2}, I_{5}(\mathbf{C}) = C_{23}^{2}, I_{6}(\mathbf{C}) = C_{31}^{2}$$
(53)

2.3.6. Material Symmetry Restrictions – Forms For Constitutive Equations For an isotropic material, use of (51) in (47) leads to

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = 2\boldsymbol{J}^{-1}\mathbf{F}\left[\left(\frac{\partial\hat{W}}{\partial I_1} + I_1\frac{\partial\hat{W}}{\partial I_2} + I_2\frac{\partial\hat{W}}{\partial I_3}\right)\mathbf{I} - \left(\frac{\partial\hat{W}}{\partial I_2} + I_1\frac{\partial\hat{W}}{\partial I_3}\right)\mathbf{C} + \frac{\partial\hat{W}}{\partial I_3}\mathbf{C}^2\right]\mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(54)

The calculation of \mathbf{FIF}^{T} , \mathbf{FCF}^{T} and $\mathbf{FC}^{2}\mathbf{F}^{T}$ in (54), in view of (12), induces a new strain tensor **B**,

$$\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{T}} , \qquad (55)$$

called the left Cauchy-Green strain tensor. In addition, it is readily shown for the invariants in (51) that $I_{\alpha}(\mathbf{C}) = I_{\alpha}(\mathbf{B})$. Then (54) becomes

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = 2\boldsymbol{J}^{-1} \left[\boldsymbol{I}_3 \frac{\partial \hat{\boldsymbol{W}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{I}_3} \mathbf{I} + \left(\frac{\partial \hat{\boldsymbol{W}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{I}_1} + \boldsymbol{I}_1 \frac{\partial \hat{\boldsymbol{W}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{I}_2} \right) \mathbf{B} - \frac{\partial \hat{\boldsymbol{W}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{I}_2} \mathbf{B}^2 \right],$$
(56)

where $\partial \hat{W} / \partial I_{\alpha}$ is now a function of $I_{\alpha}(\mathbf{B})$. In deriving (56), use has been made of the Cayley-Hamilton theorem

$$\mathbf{B}^3 = I_1 \mathbf{B}^2 - I_2 \mathbf{B} + I_3 \mathbf{I} \ . \tag{57}$$

An alternate form of the constitutive equation is obtained if (57) is multiplied by \mathbf{B}^{-1} and the resulting expression for \mathbf{B}^2 is substituted into (56),

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = 2J^{-1} \left[\left(I_2 \frac{\partial W}{\partial I_2} + I_3 \frac{\partial W}{\partial I_3} \right) \mathbf{I} + \frac{\partial W}{\partial I_1} \mathbf{B} - I_3 \frac{\partial W}{\partial I_2} \mathbf{B}^{-1} \right].$$
(58)

Relations analogous to (54) can be developed for transversely isotropic and orthotropic materials. For the sake of brevity of presentation, this will not be done here.

Two comments are important at this point. First, the Cayley-Hamilton theorem has been indispensable in the development of representations of constitutive equations for different physical phenomena and material symmetries. Second, it is possible to eliminate \mathbf{F} and \mathbf{C} from (54) and introduce the strain tensor \mathbf{B} only for an isotropic elastic material.

2.4. Constraints

The possible motions of a body may be limited by constraints such as incompressibility or inextensibility in certain directions. Such constraints impose restrictions on the constitutive equations. Discussion here will be restricted to the constraint of incompressibility.

In many polymeric materials, the volume change during deformation is observed to be very small. This leads to an idealized material model for which any possible motion must satisfy the constraint,

$$J = \det \mathbf{F} = 1 \ . \tag{59}$$

Motions that satisfy (59) are described as being isochoric. The constraint condition (59) implies that

$$I_3 = \det \mathbf{B} = J^2 = 1 \tag{60}$$

Reconsideration of the restrictions of the thermodynamics of materials with constraint (59) leads to a modified form for (38),

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = -p\mathbf{I} + \rho_o \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \mathbf{F}} \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{T}} , \qquad (61)$$

in which p is an arbitrary scalar. Note, by (13) and (59) that $\rho = \rho_0$. The restriction imposed by consideration of the influence of superposed rigid body motions must still be satisfied so that (42) again holds. When this is used in (61), the result is a modified form of (43),

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = -p\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{F} \left[\frac{\partial W}{\partial \mathbf{C}} + \left(\frac{\partial W}{\partial \mathbf{C}} \right)^{\mathrm{T}} \right] \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(62)

If the material is isotropic in its reference configuration, material symmetry considerations (46), (51) and (60) lead to

(63)

$$W(\mathbf{C},\theta) = W(I_1,I_2,\theta)$$
.

When this is substituted into (62), the calculations and use of the Cayley-Hamilton theorem lead to results analogous to (56) and (58),

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = -p\mathbf{I} + 2\left[\left(\frac{\partial \tilde{W}}{\partial I_1} + I_1 \frac{\partial \tilde{W}}{\partial I_2}\right)\mathbf{B} - \frac{\partial \tilde{W}}{\partial I_2}\mathbf{B}^2\right].$$

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = -p\mathbf{I} + 2\left[\frac{\partial \tilde{W}}{\partial I_1}\mathbf{B} - \frac{\partial \tilde{W}}{\partial I_2}\mathbf{B}^{-1}\right].$$
(64)

TO ACCESS ALL THE **39 PAGES** OF THIS CHAPTER, Visit: <u>http://www.eolss.net/Eolss-sampleAllChapter.aspx</u>

Bibliography

Arruda, E. M., Boyce, M. C. (1993). A three –dimensional constitutive model for the large stretch behavior of elastic materials. *Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids* **41**, 389-412. [This paper introduces a form for the strain energy function for rubber elasticity that has received a lot of attention]

Atkin, R. J., Craine, R. E. (1976). Continuum theories of mixtures: basic theory and historical development. *Quarterly Journal of Mechanics and Applied Mathematics* **29**, 209-244. [This paper provides a useful and concise overview of the Theory of Mixtures]

Atkin, R. J., Craine, R. E. (1976). Continuum theories of mixtures: applications. *Journal of the Institute of Mathematics and it Applications* **17**, 153-207. [A summary of applications of the Theory of Mixtures]

Barenblatt, G. I., Joseph, D. D., Editors (1996), *Collected Papers of R. S. Rivlin, Volumes I and II*, Springer, Berlin. [A compendium of the collected papers of R. S. Rivlin that shows the breadth of his research contributions]

Beatty, M. F. (1987). Topics in finite elasticity: hyperelasticity of rubber, elastomers and biological tissues - with examples. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, **40**, 1699-1734. [A review of the theory of nonlinear elasticity along with some applications]

Bowen, R. M. (1976) Theory of Mixtures. *Continuum Physics III*, ed. A. C. Eringen, Academic Press, New York. [A chapter presenting the formulation of the Theory of Mixtures]

Carroll, M. M. (1967). Controllable deformations of incompressible simple materials. *International Journal of Engineering Science* **5**, 515-525. [A paper that extends the controllable deformations for incompressible nonlinear isotropic elastic solids to any incompressible nonlinear isotropic elastic solid]

Coleman, B., Noll. W., Foundations of Linear Viscoelasticity. *Reviews of Modern Physics*, 33, (1961) 239-249. [This paper provides a mathematical statement of the notion of fading memory and its use in developing a nonlinear single integral constitutive equation as an approximation to the general case]

Drapaca, C. S., Sivaloganathan, S., Tenti, G. Non-linear constitutive laws in viscoelasticity. *Mathematics and Mechanics of Solids*, **12**, 475-501. [A review of the major constitutive equations of nonlinear viscoelasticity and the assumptions on which they are based]

Fosdick, R. L. (1968). Dynamically possible motions of incompressible, isotropic simple materials. *Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis* **29**, 272-288. [An alternate method to that of Carroll for extending the controllable deformations for incompressible nonlinear isotropic elastic solids to any incompressible nonlinear isotropic elastic solid]

Fung, Y. C. (1981). *Biomechanics: Mechanical Properties of Living Tissues*. Springer-Verlag, New York . [A classic biomechanics reference that describes the development of constitutive equations for the mechanical response for various types of biological tissue]

Gandhi, M.V., Usman, M. (1989). Equilibrium characterization of fluid-saturated continua and interpretation of the saturation boundary condition assumption for solid-fluid mixtures. *International Journal of Engineering Science* 27,539-548. [A derivation from the general theory of mixtures of equations for saturated fluid-solid mixtures]

Lockett, F. J. (1972) *Nonlinear Viscoelastic Solids*. Academic Press, New York. [A classic reference that summarizes constitutive theories for viscoelastic solids as of 1972]

McGuirt, C. W., Lianis, G. (1970). Constitutive equations for viscoelastic solids under finite uniaxial and biaxial deformations. *Transactions of the Society of Rheology* **14**, 117-134. [This is perhaps the last of a series of papers that present the results of their experimental program and their use in developing a constitutive equation for the viscoelastic response of styreme - butadiene rubber]

Ogden, R. W. (1984). *Nonlinear Elastic Deformations*. John Wiley and Sons, New York, [A standard reference in nonlinear elasticity that presents its formulation and applications]

Pipkin, A. C., Rogers, T.G. (1968) A non-linear integral representation for viscoelastic behaviour. *Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids* **16**, 59-72. [This paper introduces a nonlinear single integral constitutive equation for viscoelasticity based on a different set of assumptions than that of Coleman and Noll]

Rajagopal, K. R., Wineman, A. S., Gandhi, M. (1986). On boundary conditions for a certain class of problems in mixture theory, *International Journal of Engineering Science* **24** 1453-1463. [This paper provides a boundary condition for fluid-solid mixtures that can be used along with the total traction boundary condition, thereby avoiding the issue of specifying partial surface tractions]

Rajagopal, K. R., Wineman, A. S. (1987). New universal relations for nonlinear isotropic elastic

materials. *Journal of Elasticity* **17**, 75-83. [This paper derives a purely geometric universal relation for incompressible nonlinear elastic solids when there is shear without normal tractions]

Rajagopal, K. R., Tao, L. (1995) *Mechanics of Mixtures*, Series on Advances in Mathematics for Applied Sciences - Vol. 35, World Scientific, Singapore. [A reference that summarizes the theory of mixtures and includes recent applications]

Rajagopal, K. R., Wineman, A. S. Response of anisotropic nonlinearly viscoelastic solids. *Mathematics and Mechanics of Solids*, to appear. [This paper develops the form of the Pipkin-Rogers constitutive equations for transversely isotropic and orthotropic materials]

Rivlin, R. S. (1948). Some applications of elasticity theory to rubber engineering. Proceedings of the Rubber Technology Conference, London, June 23-25, ed. T. R. Dawson. Cambridge, Heffer, 1-8. [This is the original paper containing the first known universal relation for isotropic elastic materials]

Rivlin, R. S., Saunders, D. W. (1951). Large elastic deformations of isotropic materials. VII. experiments on the deformation of rubber. *Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, A 243, 251-288. [This paper presents an experimental program and data and the determination of the strain energy function for isotropic incompressible elastic solids]

Spencer, A. J. M. (1971). Theory of Invariants, in: Eringen, A. C. (ed.) *Continuum Physics, Vol. I.* Academic Press, New York, 259-353. [This is a standard reference that shows how material symmetry restrictions are used to construct constitutive equations]

Treloar. L. R. G. (1975). *The Physics of Rubber Elasticity*, 3rd Edition, Clarendon Press, Oxford, England. [A standard reference discussing molecular and continuum descriptions of the mechanical behavior of rubber]

Truesdell, C, and Noll, W. (1965). The Non-linear Field Theories of Mechanics. *Handbuch der Physik, III/3*, ed. S. Flugge, Springer, Berlin. [A classic encyclopedic article on continuum mechanics, nonlinear elasticity and some aspects of mixture theory]

Wineman, A. S., Waldron, Jr., W. K. (1995). Yieldlike response of a compressible nonlinear viscoelastic solid. *Journal of Rheology* **39**, 401-423. [A study of dimensional changes in a viscoelastic block when it is sheared without applying normal tractions]

Wineman, A. S., Rajagopal, K. R. (2000). *Mechanical Response of Polymers, An Introduction*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. [A presentation of the formulation and application of linear viscoelasticity]

Wineman, A. (2007). Nonlinear Viscoelastic Membranes. *Computers & Mathematics with Applications* **53**, 168-181. [This paper reviews the formulation of equations for large axisymmetric deformations of nonlinear viscoelastic membranes, their solution and resulting physical phenomena]

Yeoh, O. H., Fleming, P. D. (1997). A new attempt to reconcile the statistical and phenomenological theories of rubber elasticity. *Journal of Polymer Science: Part B: Polymer Physics* **35**, 1919-1931. [Development of an expression for the strain energy function for nonlinear elastic materials that includes finite extensibility and important experimental results]

Biographical Sketch

Alan S. Wineman is Professor of Mechanical Engineering, Professor of Macromolecular Science and Engineering and Arthur F. Thurnau Professor at the University of Michigan. He received a B.S. E. in Engineering Mechanics and Mathematics from the University of Michigan in 1959 and the Ph. D. in Applied Mathematics from Brown University in 1964.

Wineman's research has been in the development and application of mathematical models for the mechanical response of polymeric solid and fluid materials. He has published over 130 papers, in three main categories, (1) nonlinear elastic and viscoelastic response, (2) the interaction of this response with diffusion, electric and magnetic fields, and (3) scission and healing of the macromolecular structure resulting from large deformations or high temperatures and the implications of these changes on mechanical response.

Prof. Wineman was a Guest Scientist in the Polymers Division of NIST in August 1994 and a Visiting

Scientist at the Institute for Mechanics and Materials in 1996. He is an Associate Editor of Mathematics and Mechanics of Solids and the International Journal of Engineering Science and a Fellow of the ASME, the AmericanAcademy of Mechanics and the Society of Engineering Science. His book, the Mechanical Response of Polymers: An Introduction, co-authored with K. R. Rajagopal has been published by Cambridge University Press.